FILED

MAR 1 2 2015

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN RR OF SUPREME COUR / CLERK

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHRISTOPHER PIGEON,

SUPREME COURT NO. 67083

Appellant,

· 'Ĕ

APPEAL

)

STATE OF NEVADA,

vs.

Respondent.

DISTRICT COURT NO. C-290261

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

SANDRA L. STEWART Attorney at Law Nevada Bar No.: 6834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 363-4656 Attorneys for Appellant MAR 12 2015 TRADIE 6. DECOURT CLERK OF S. DE RENE COURT

15-07694

# **

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

#### A. **BASIS FOR APPELLATE JURISDICTION**

NRAP 4(b); NRS 177.015(3)

#### **B.** FILING DATES ESTABLISHING TIMELINESS OF APPEAL

12-23-14: Judgment of Conviction filed<sup>1</sup>

12-15-14: Notice of Appeal filed<sup>2</sup>

#### C. ASSERTION OF FINAL ORDER OR JUDGMENT

This appeal is from a judgment of conviction.

#### Π

#### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

ISSUE NO. 1: Whether PIGEON'S 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his convictions where he was incompetent to stand trial because he did not have a rational understanding of the proceedings against him.

ISSUE NO. 2: Whether PIGEON's 5<sup>th</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup>, and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment right to counsel and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his convictions where the court allowed him to represent himself even though he lacked the mental capacity to competently conduct his trial defense unless represented.

• • • •

• • • •

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> PA/4/849.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> PA/4/846.

ISSUE NO. 3: Whether PIGEON'S 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights to due process and a fair trial were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his convictions where:

a. the conviction for lewdness was not supported by the evidence because (1) the only evidence supporting that charge was testimony of a police officer from a video tape that he viewed which the police negligently failed to preserve and which the defendant believes would have in fact been exculpatory, and (2) the purported act of masturbation occurred in an area of a convenience store where no person was likely to observe the act and no person did actually observe the act;

b. the conviction for aggravated stalking was not supported by the evidence because the purported victim admitted that PIGEON never threatened her;

c. the conviction for luring children with intent to engage in sexual conduct was not supported by the evidence because PIGEON never attempted to persuade, lure, or transport the purported victim anywhere and had no intention of engaging in sexual contact with her unless her parents expressly consented to a marriage between the purported victim and PIGEON;

d. the conviction for attempted first degree kidnapping was not supported by the evidence because there was no testimony or other evidence that PIGEON took any action toward committing the act of kidnapping, had any present ability to transport the purported victim, or that he intended to detain or imprison her in any way;

e. the conviction for burglary was not supported by the evidence because the testimony indicated that PIGEON entered the convenience store without any felonious intent, but rather, for the sole purpose of watching the purported victim.

....

. . . .

ISSUE NO. 4: Whether PIGEON'S right against double jeopardy was violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his convictions where he was charged and convicted of two counts of failing to register as a sex offender during the same time period which constitutes multiple punishments for the same offense.

ISSUE NO. 5: Whether PIGEON's 8<sup>th</sup> Amendment right against cruel and unusual punishment was violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his convictions where he was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole for simply following a 12-year-old girl to school on a public bus on three occasions, which sentence is so disproportionate to the offense committed as to be completely arbitrary and shocking to the sense of justice.

ISSUE NO. 6: Whether PIGEON's 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights to due process of law were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his convictions where he was found to be an habitual criminal based on three underlying felonies, two of which were already enhanced from misdemeanors, and there was no evidence that PIGEON constituted a serious threat to society.

ISSUE NO. 7: Whether PIGEON'S 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendment rights to due process of law were violated amounting to prejudicial error and requiring reversal of his convictions where the prosecutor erroneously argued to the jury that it would be illegal for PIGEON to marry the alleged victim.



# **STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>3</sup>**

#### A. <u>NATURE OF THE CASE</u>

This is a case about a 51-year-old man suffering from paranoid schizophrenia with delusions of grandeur who was sentenced to life in prison **without possibility of parole** for following a 12-year-old girl<sup>4</sup> on a public bus three mornings and lightly touching her on the arm one time to tell her he thought she was pretty. He was never previously convicted of any crime involving children.<sup>5</sup>

He was tried after a psychologist testified at a competency hearing that in his opinion PIGEON was not able to conduct a meaningful defense or avoid incriminating himself because he did not understand that he had done anything wrong, and he was operating under the delusion that the child in question was in love with him.<sup>6</sup> Despite that testimony, not only was PIGEON referred to trial, he was permitted to represent himself and during the course of the trial did, indeed, incriminate himself. The judge even put the instances where PIGEON incriminated himself, on the record.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "PA" shall at all times herein refer to PIGEON's Appendix filed herewith.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> PA/3/515.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> PA/1/38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> PA/2/288-290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> PA/4/691.

#### B. <u>COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS</u>

Please see the Appendix table of contents which is sorted chronologically.

### C. <u>DISPOSITION BY THE COURT BELOW</u><sup>8</sup>

COUNT	CHARGE	SENTENCE
1	Attempted 1 <sup>st</sup> Degree Kidnapping	Life w/out
2	Aggravated Stalking	Life w/out
3	Luring Children w/Intent to Engage in Sex	Life w/out
4	Burglary	Life w/out
5	Open Or Gross Lewdness	Life w/out
6	Unlawful Contact With a Child	364 days
7	Prohibited Acts By A Sex Offender	Life w/out
8	Prohibited Acts By A Sex Offender	Life w/out

All counts to run concurrent.

#### IV

#### **STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

PIGEON is a 51-year-old<sup>9</sup> father of three children,<sup>10</sup> who suffers from paranoid schizophrenia with delusions of grandeur.<sup>11</sup> Before this horrible mental disease became chronic he obtained a business degree from the University of Notre Dame and an architectural degree from Drexel University.<sup>12</sup> He was also a Captain in the United States Army, honorably discharged.<sup>13</sup> At the time of the events

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Taken from the Amended Indictment (PA/2/396) and the Judgment Of Conviction (PA/4/849).

PA/1/1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> PA/1/12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> PA/2/277-278, 279

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> PA/12/321.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> PA/1/67, 74.

which are the subject of this case, PIGEON was homeless, sometimes sleeping in a storage unit which he rented.<sup>14</sup> He had no car, and either walked or used the public bus system to get around.<sup>15</sup>

**On May 15, 2013** according to the alleged victim (Candace), PIGEON got on the same public bus that she rode to school every morning. PIGEON sat on the bottom floor of the bus and she sat on the top. There was no conversation between them. She got off the bus near her school and went into CJ's Mini Mart. PIGEON looked at her when she was in the store but said nothing to her. When she left the store for school she did not notice if he followed her.<sup>16</sup> According to a store employee, PIGEON did not appear to be following Candace.<sup>17</sup> According to a police officer who was not present on May 15<sup>th</sup>, but watched a store video which was unavailable at trial, the video showed that PIGEON had his hands in his pockets and was pulling at his genitals and his groin area while he was staring in the direction of Candace.<sup>18</sup> PIGEON at all times denied that he masturbated in the store.<sup>19</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> PA/1/55, 63, 65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> PA/1/8, 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> PA/3/519-521.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> PA/3/483.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> PA/3/560-561.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> PA/1/21, 22, 33, 34, 44, 69.

**On May 16, 2013**, according to Candace, PIGEON again boarded the same bus she rode to school. He again sat on the bottom floor and she sat on the top.<sup>20</sup> When she left the bus and started for CJ's Mini Mart, PIGEON caught up with her near a parking lot in front of Sonio's Restaurant<sup>21</sup> lightly touched her hand and told her she looked nice.<sup>22</sup> Candace ignored him and went on her way to CJ's Mini Mart.<sup>23</sup> PIGEON followed her and sat down at the slot machines.<sup>24</sup> When she left the store to go to school she did not notice if PIGEON followed her or not.<sup>25</sup> PIGEON's testimony regarding this day is the same as Candace's.<sup>26</sup> According to a store employee, PIGEON was watching Candace the entire time they were in CJ's Mini Mart.<sup>27</sup>

**On May 17, 2013**, according to Candace, PIGEON boarded the same bus as Candace but this time both were on the bottom floor because the top floor was too crowded for Candace to go up there.<sup>28</sup> When they got to CJ's Mini Mart, PIGEON again told her that she was beautiful. She ignored him and walked away.<sup>29</sup> He

۳.

- <sup>23</sup> PA/3/526.
- <sup>24</sup> PA/3/527.
- <sup>25</sup> PA/3/528.
- <sup>26</sup> PA/4/670.
- <sup>27</sup> PA/3/484.
- <sup>28</sup> PA/3/531.
- <sup>29</sup> PA/3/531.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> PA/3/524.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> PA/3/526.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> PA/4/812-813.

followed her out of CJ's Mini Mart which "creeped her out."<sup>30</sup> This testimony differed from her recorded statement where she stated that when she left CJ's Mini Mart she was rushing because she was late for school so did not notice if PIGEON followed her out of the store or not.<sup>31</sup> According to the store employee, PIGEON came in the store and was watching Candace. He told her she looked nice. When she left, PIGEON followed her out of the store.<sup>32</sup>

#### V

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

PIGEON was completely overcharged and over sentenced. He was sentenced to life **without possibility of parole** for merely following a 12-year-old girl on three occasions and lightly touching her on the hand once, to get her attention to tell her that he thought she looked nice. PIGEON and the girl were at all times in public in the presence of other persons. He never made any attempt or suggestion that she accompany him to another place. He didn't even have any means of transporting her to another place as he was homeless and had no car. He simply followed where she went, always in public. That is all he did. The sentence is so out of proportion to the crime as to shock the conscience of any rational person.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> PA/3/532.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> PA/4/812.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> PA/3/485-492.

He was convicted under the large habitual because of two prior felonies for lewdness which were originally misdemeanors that were enhanced to felonies. Neither involved children.<sup>33</sup> One was for touching a waitress on the back at Treasure Island. A second was for having his hand in his pocket at Bellagio.<sup>34</sup> A third felony was for forging his parents' names on some checks in 2000 - 13 years ago.<sup>35</sup>

The man is a paranoid schizophrenic with delusions of grandeur who believed that the girl in question loved him and that the two of them would eventually obtain her parents' consent to marry. This is what he believes, and that was the defense he presented at his trial. He should not have been deemed competent to stand trial, let alone to represent himself completely unassisted by counsel. This was really a travesty of justice, and PIGEON should at a minimum be afforded a new trial where he is required to have counsel to represent him. Precedent to that, he should be ordered to intensive psychological testing to determine if he is even competent to stand trial and assist with his defense given his severe mental illness. This should be done by someone other than Lakes Crossing whose stated purpose is to find competency.

. . . .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> PA/3/413-415.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> PA/4/661.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> PA/3/415.

#### ARGUMENT

VI

#### A. <u>PIGEON NOT COMPETENT TO STAND TRIAL</u>

#### (Standard of Review: Clear Error<sup>36</sup>)

Under a clear error standard, an appellate court must accept the lower court's findings of fact unless upon review the appellate court is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed.<sup>37</sup> In this case, the competency court held a hearing, but made no findings of fact regarding her competency decision.<sup>38</sup>

It is clear that "the criminal trial of an incompetent defendant violates due process."<sup>39</sup> In order to be placed on trial a defendant must understand the essential elements of "a fair trial, including the right to effective assistance of counsel, the rights to summon, to confront, and to cross-examine witnesses, and the right to testify on one's own behalf or to remain silent without penalty for doing so."<sup>40</sup> Moreover, a defendant may not be placed on trial for a criminal offense unless he "has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding--and . . . a rational as well as factual understanding of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> United States v. Friedman, 366 F.3d 975, 980 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 346 n.14 (1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> PA/2/312.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> *Cooper v. Oklahoma*, 517 U.S. 348, 354 (1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> *Riggins v. Nevada*, 504 U.S. 127, 139-40 (1992).

proceedings against him."41

It is important to note at the outset that PIGEON is mentally ill. Two psychologists agree on this – one hired by the defense, and one from Lakes Crossing. But, PIGEON does not believe he has any mental illness. He is like the schizophrenic in the movie A Beautiful Mind who was seriously ill but because of the illness and delusions which were very real to him, did not believe that he was ill. He could not understand how he could be so brilliant and still be mentally ill. In his mind, he was the smartest man in the room, and everyone else was out of step. He believed the world that his sick mind conjured for him, was real. The sad truth is that he WAS brilliant. He WAS a genius. Schizophrenia and genius are not mutually exclusive. They can, and often do, co-exist in the same person. So, it is important to realize that in this case, PIGEON actually believed that Candace was in love with him. He actually believed that he could go to her parents and that they would agree for the two of them to get married. This was his reality. This is what he believed, and what he believes to this day. He does not believe he is mentally ill because he constantly harkens back to a time before the mental illness took over when he obtained two college degrees and attained the rank of Captain in the Army. He cannot comprehend how he could have accomplished those goals if

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> *Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402, 402 (1960); *State v. McNeil*, 405 N.J. Super. 39, 47-48 (App.Div. 2009).

he had been mentally ill. The sad truth is that he probably accomplished them before the disease manifested.

With that preamble, we turn to the facts of this case.

Dr. Bradley from Lakes Crossing testified that PIGEON stayed at Lakes Crossing in 2009 for five weeks and in 2011 for one year.<sup>42</sup> He diagnosed PIGEON as a chronic paranoid schizophrenic with narcissistic personality with delusions of grandeur.<sup>43</sup> PIGEON was discharged from Lakes Crossing in 2012 as competent on two anti-psychotic medications; a combination of Rispedal and Zyprexa.<sup>44</sup> In 2013, Dr. Bradley noted that PIGEON refused to take his medications.<sup>45</sup> During the competency hearing for this case, Dr. Bradley found PIGEON competent to stand trial even though he was not taking his medications which he had previously found in 2012 that PIGEON needed, to be competent. Dr. Bradley further testified that in determining PIGEON's competency to stand trial in this case, he never discussed with him whether PIGEON believed that Candace was in love with him, the history of interactions between PIGEON and Candace, conversations between PIGEON and Candace, PIGEON's plan to ask Candace's parents for permission to marry her, or how PIGEON intended to defend the case.<sup>46</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> PA/2/201, 275-276.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> PA/2/277-278.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> PA/2/285.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> PA/2/280.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> PA/2/283.

**Dr. Harder**, the defense psychologist, noted that the mission statement of Lakes Crossing is to restore people to competency. Dr. Harder agreed with Dr. Bradley that PIGEON was suffering from paranoid schizophrenia with delusions of grandeur.<sup>47</sup> He testified that PIGEON was in love with Candace and wanted to marry her. PIGEON planned to defend himself by informing the jury that Candace was in love with him.<sup>48</sup> Dr. Harder concluded that in his opinion, PIGEON would have a difficult time not incriminating himself or saying things that would be damaging to his case.<sup>49</sup> He testified that PIGEON was oblivious to the fact that he had committed a crime. He described it as a fixed delusion which could interfere with PIGEON's ability to aid counsel in his defense.<sup>50</sup> Dr. Bradley (Lakes Crossing) described a fixed delusion as one where a person entering a home believed that he owned the home and so could not be found guilty of home invasion.<sup>51</sup> This is the type of delusion that PIGEON suffers from. Dr. Harder felt that PIGEON was capable of understanding the court process but that his delusions would keep him from understanding that what he did was wrong or how to keep from incriminating himself.<sup>52</sup> He said that PIGEON was suffering from erotomenia delusion which is a diagnosis for people who believe that someone is in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> PA/2/290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> PA/2/288-289.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> PA/2/290.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> PA/2/292-293.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> PA/2/283.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> PA/2/294.

love with them, who is in fact not in love with them.<sup>53</sup>

PIGEON's attorney at the competency hearing stated that PIGEON wanted to let everyone know that he is the smartest man in the room and that is why a 12year-old girl fell in love with him.<sup>54</sup> PIGEON then himself stated at the competency hearing that "we enjoyed one another's company seemingly due to body language, due to nearness, upbeat small talk and also facial expressions."<sup>55</sup> All this despite Candace's testimony that they never talked to each other, let alone engaged in "upbeat small talk."

True to Dr. Harder's prediction, PIGEON did, in fact, incriminate himself.

The following are PIGEON's own words at the trial:

Q. And what initially interested you in following her?

A. She seemed attracted to me. I mentioned in the interview yesterday, facial expressions, body language, and she glanced at me often. She didn't seem to mind my company.

Q. Did you know how old she was or did you learn that later?

A. I knew that she was probably a junior high student.

Q. And is that because you knew she went to Hyde Park, which is a junior high school?

A. Yeah. I didn't discover that until later though.

Q. So did you think that she was around the age of 12?

A. Yes. 12 or 13, I figured.

Q. Okay. When she asked you that one day kind of the - by Sonio's to leave her alone, how did you interpret that?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> PA/2/297.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> PA/2/300.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> PA/2/300-303.

A. I actually was somewhat shocked because she seemed to like my attention. I felt kind of bad about it. I followed her to make sure she wasn't going away nuts or anything.<sup>56</sup>

Q. With her parental permission, you were saying, you did want to marry and have sex with her. Is that right?

A. That's correct.

Q. Okay.

A. Only with permission and of course, marriage.<sup>57</sup>

Q. Why did you take the bus route from central station to Charleston and Valley View?

A. Well, I always – I rode the bus with her on purpose. It was to be with her.

Q. Where were you going?

A. I walked her to school.

Q. Were you only following Candace?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you still love Candace?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Were you happy to see her again in Court?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. Do you hope to see Candace again someday?

A. ... I mean, I would really – I really do hope to see her again.

However, I'd have to have permission for that.

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