IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CHRISTOPHER PIGEON,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed May 13 2015 11:10 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

Case No. 67083

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SANDRA L. STEWART, ESQ. Attorney at Law Nevada Bar #006834 140 Rancho Maria Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 363-4656 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Pigeon was found competent by three evaluators to proceed with adjudication. II AA 229, 294. Pigeon's attorney challenged the findings, and at the competency hearing in this case, Dr. Bradley testified that he evaluated Pigeon while he was at Lake's Crossing regarding prior cases in 2009 and in 2001, then again regarding this case in 2013. II AA 276-77; 284-85. In 2009 and 2011, Pigeon exhibited delusional grandiosity. II AA 278. In 2013, Pigeon exhibited grandiosity, but not of the delusional sort. <u>Id</u>. Instead, it was more the type of "boastfulness" exhibited by someone who is narcissistic. II AA 278-280. In 2013, Pigeon also exhibited the type of non-delusional paranoia and mistrust that is often seen in individuals who have been through the criminal justice system several times. II AA 278-280.

In 2009 and 2011, Pigeon was discharged as competent while taking two antipsychotic medications. II AA 285. Dr. Bradley testified that Pigeon was unwilling to take any anti-psychotic medications, but he did take the medication prescribed for depression. II AA 280. He further explained, "although I recommended that he restart an anti-psychotic medication, because in general people with schizophrenia do better if they're on maintenance therapy, I didn't push the issue just because he was not exhibiting overt psychotic symptoms." II AA 285. Accordingly, Dr. Bradley explained that although Pigeon needed the medications in order to reach levels of competency during his previous two Lakes Crossing stays, in 2013 medication was unnecessary because of Pigeon's condition and exhibition of symptoms at that time. Dr. Bradley thoroughly explained the process by which he evaluates a patient's competency, the same process he used while evaluating Pigeon, which is consistent with Nevada legal requirements. II AA 282-83; 285-86; N.R.S. 178.400. Dr. Bradley discussed with Pigeon such issues as the legal process, his understanding of the court system, the charges, the allegations in the case, and his flexibility in discussing his approach to the case, and Dr. Bradley found him to be competent. II AA 281-83, 285-86.

Dr. Harder testified that Pigeon believed he was better than everyone else but did not exhibit paranoia. II AA 291. He also testified that Pigeon's belief that C.C. liked him was delusional, which could interfere with helping with defense. II AA 292-93. Yet Dr. Harder admitted that he spent an hour or less with Pigeon, and that Lake's Crossing had more time to evaluate Pigeon. II AA 293-94. Furthermore, Dr. Harder stated that Pigeon was not incompetent "on the basis of understanding the court process." II AA 294. Despite his testimony that Pigeon's belief regarding C.C. was delusional, Pigeon exhibited no hallucinations and was able to point out weaknesses in the case, including potential weaknesses in the charges and the "missing" video.⁵ II AA 295-96. Dr. Harder also thought that Pigeon couldn't testify without incriminating himself, but admitted that is true of many defendants.

⁵ The unavailable video footage will be discussed more fully, *infra*.

II AA 295.⁶ When asked by defense counsel, Dr. Harder responded that he was not familiar with Lake's Crossing's mission statement, but agreed that their "goal is to restore people to competency." II AA 298. Accordingly, the Court was made aware of any potential bias that evaluators from Lake's Crossing may have, and it is within the Court's discretion to assess the credibility of witnesses at an evidentiary hearing. <u>Ybarra v. State</u>, 127 Nev. ____, 247 P.3d 269, 276-77 (2011) ("Matters of credibility in this area remain, however, within the district court's discretion."); <u>Mann v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 351, 356, 46 P.3d 1228, 1231 (2002) (observing that on remand for evidentiary hearing "the district court will be better able to judge credibility"); <u>See generally Mulder v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1, 15, 992 P.2d 845, 853 (2000) ("The trier of fact determines the weight and credibility to give conflicting testimony.").

Although true that Pigeon's testimony at trial was likely unfavorable, it is also true that defendants' testimony is often unfavorable. Furthermore, Pigeon cites no

⁶ Pigeon asserts that Dr. Harder testified that Pigeon "was capable of understanding the court process but that his delusions would keep him from understanding that what he did was wrong or how to keep from incriminating himself." AOB at 13. In support of this assertion, Pigeon cites to II AA 294, but Dr. Harder made no such assertion on that page of his testimony. Dr. Harder did testify there that Pigeon fully understood the court process and was a bright man, but that there were "other issues." II AA 294. Dr. Harder did not make the specific finding that Pigeon could not understand what he did was wrong or that he was incapable of incriminating himself, only that it might be difficult for him not to incriminate himself like it would be for many defendants, as explained *supra*.

case law in support of his apparent proposition that in order to be competent, a defendant must not make incriminating or unfavorable statements during his testimony or during his own self-representation. Both Dr. Bradley and Dr. Harder testified that Pigeon understood the court proceedings, the court process, and the charges. II AA 281-83, 285-86; 294-95. Dr. Harder, though called by the defense, testified that Pigeon was even able to point out legal weaknesses in his case. II AA 295-96. Accordingly, Pigeon was competent to stand trial. NRS 178.400.

Based upon the foregoing, although Dr. Harder disagreed with the finding of competency made by all three evaluators at Lake's Crossing, the District Court's finding that Pigeon was competent to stand trial is supported by substantial evidence. Dr. Bradley had spent significantly more time with Pigeon in 2013, and had previously evaluated him on two other occasions. Dr. Bradley was in a better position to make a conclusion as to Pigeon's competency, and the District Court did not abuse its discretion in finding his expert opinion credible.

II THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING PIGEON WAS COMPETENT TO REPRESENT HIMSELF

This Court has held that "the competency to stand trial is the same competency needed to waive the right to counsel. Once a defendant is deemed competent, the next inquiry is whether the waiver of counsel is knowing, voluntary and intelligent." <u>Hymon v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 200, 212, 111 P.3d 1092, 1101 (2005). "When a defendant

seeks to waive his right to counsel, a determination that he is competent to stand trial is not enough; the waiver must also be intelligent and voluntary before it can be accepted." <u>Id</u>. (internal quotations and citation omitted).

The relevant inquiry regarding whether a defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to representation by counsel is whether the "defendant made his decision with a clear comprehension of the attendant risks. Trial judges must determine whether defendants waive their right to counsel with a full understanding of the disadvantages." Graves v. State, 112 Nev. 118, 124, 912 P.2d 234, 238 (1996). Although a defendant who is deemed competent to stand trial will generally be competent to waive the right to counsel, see Hymon, 121 Nev. at 212, 111 P.3d at 1101, the United States Supreme Court has held that "the Constitution permits States to insist upon representation by counsel for those competent to stand trial under Dusky but who still suffer from severe mental illness to the point where they are not competent to conduct trial proceedings by themselves." Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 178, 128 S. Ct. 2379, 171 L. Ed. 2d 345 (2008). This Court has held that the "only question is whether the defendant 'competently and intelligently' chose self-representation, not whether he was able to 'competently and intelligently' represent himself." Id. (emphasis in original). The Court will "give deference to the district court's decision to allow the defendant to waive his right to counsel. Through face-to-face interaction in the courtroom, the trial judges are much

more competent to judge a defendant's understanding than this court. The cold record is a poor substitute for demeanor observation." <u>Hymon</u>, 121 Nev. at 213, 111 P.3d at 1101 (*citing* <u>Graves</u>, 112 Nev. at 124, 912 P.2d at 238).

Pigeon was deemed competent to stand trial. The record supports the District Court's conclusion that there was no indication that Pigeon was unable to conduct the trial proceedings as a result of severe mental illness. Trial counsel represented that he had provided Pigeon with the Faretta materials and that Pigeon has previously gone through Faretta canvasses twice before in Nevada. II AA 315. Pigeon had previously represented himself in a trial. II AA 318, 322. The District Court conducted the required Faretta canvass, and repeatedly warned Pigeon of the risks associated with representing himself at trial. II AA 315-24. During the canvass, trial counsel represented "Christopher's very intelligent. He has thought about this a lot. We have butted heads numerous times about strategy which is why he's a little frustrated." II AA 322. Pigeon answered the District Court's questions coherently and appropriately, and agreed that he understood the nature and severity of the crimes charged and that he had read all of the applicable statutes and gone through the discovery. II AA 319, 322. Pigeon agreed that he understood the consequences if he decided to testify on his own behalf. II AA 318. He also agreed that he understood that his dual role as attorney and accused could diminish his defense. II AA 323.

At the end of the canvass, the District Court acknowledged that Pigeon had been found competent by Competency Court, and found "specifically that you are competent to waive your constitutional right to be represented by an attorney... that you are waiving your right to counsel freely, voluntarily, and knowingly and has a full appreciation and an understanding of the waiver and its consequences." II AA 323-24. Throughout the hearing, at no time did trial counsel object or suggest that although Pigeon was found competent to stand trial, he was not competent to represent himself. Pigeon made the choice to represent himself with a full understanding of the risks and disadvantages of so doing. The District Court did not err in finding that Pigeon knowingly, and voluntarily chose to represent himself.

III SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTS PIGEON'S CONVICTIONS

The standard of review for sufficiency of the evidence upon appeal is whether the jury, acting reasonably, could have been convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Edwards v. State</u>, 90 Nev. 255, 258-259, 524 P.2d 328, 331 (1974). In reviewing a claim of insufficient evidence, the relevant inquiry is "whether, after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Origel-Candido v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380 (1998), (quoting <u>Koza v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 245, 250, 681 P.2d 44, 47 (1984)); <u>See also Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979). "Where there is substantial evidence to support a jury verdict, it [the verdict] will not be disturbed on appeal." <u>Smith v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 1269, 927 P.2d 14, 20 (1996); <u>Kazalyn v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 67, 71, 825 P.2d 578, 581 (1992); <u>Bolden v. State</u>, 97 Nev. 71, 73, 624 P.2d 20, 20 (1981).

Moreover, "it is the jury's function, not that of the court, to assess the weight of the evidence and determine the credibility of the witnesses." Origel-Candido, 114 Nev. 378, 381, 956 P.2d 1378, 1380 (quoting <u>McNair v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 53, 56, 825) P.2d 571, 573 (1992); see also Culverson v. State, 95 Nev. 433, 435, 596 P.2d 220, 221 (1979) (holding it is the function of the jury to weigh the credibility of the identifying witnesses); Azbill v. Stet, 88 Nev. 240, 252, 495 P.2d 1064, 1072 (1972), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 895, 97 S.Ct. 257 (1976) (In all criminal proceedings, the weight and sufficiency of the evidence are questions for the jury; its verdict will not be disturbed if there is evidence to support it and the evidence will not be weighed by an Appellate Court). This does not require this Court to decide whether "it believes that the evidence at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. at 319-20, 99 S.Ct. at 2789 (quoting Woodby v. INS, 385 U.S. 895, 87 S.Ct. 483, 486 (1966)). This standard thus preserves the fact finder's role and responsibility "[to fairly] resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." Id. at 319, 99 S.Ct. at 2789.

A jury is free to rely on both direct and circumstantial evidence in returning its verdict. Wilkins v. State, 96 Nev. 367, 609 P.2d 309 (1980). Also, this Court has consistently held that circumstantial evidence alone may sustain a conviction. Deveroux v. State, 96 Nev. 388, 391, 610 P.2d 722, 724 (1980) (citing Crawford v. State, 92 Nev. 456, 552 P.2d 1378 (1976). The State produced sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdicts.

A. Open and Gross Lewdness

Pigeon was charged with Count 5: Open or Gross Lewdness (NRS 201.210) because he masturbated in the CJ's Mini Mart after having previously been convicted of the same offense in 2006, 2010, and 2012. II AA 398. In order to be convicted, the jury was instructed that the crime encompassed indecent, obscene, or vulgar acts of a sexual nature which Pigeon knew was likely to be seen by C.C. IV AA 747. Additionally, although such an act could take place in a private location, the act must have been committed in an open, as opposed to secret, manner. IV AA 747.

At trial, Detective Jason Lafreniere testified that when he responded to CJ's Mini Mart, he viewed video surveillance footage through the surveillance system for May 15, 2013, which showed Pigeon reach into his pocket and masturbate while looking at C.C. III AA 561.

1. Admission of Lafreniere's statements about the video footage

On appeal, Pigeon challenges the admission of Lafreniere's statements regarding what he saw on the surveillance footage based upon the unavailability of the video recording, and supports his argument with NRS 52.235. Below, Pigeon objected that "the tape isn't even in existence. And there were no witnesses that claimed anything in the store that hasn't already been purported by those same witnesses," and the District Court allowed the State to lay a foundation. III AA 557. After the State did so, Pigeon objected for hearsay, and the objection was overruled. III AA 558-59. Yet NRS Chapter 52 deals with documentary and other physical evidence, not with hearsay, which is covered by NRS Chapter 51. Pigeon "cannot change [his] theory underlying an assignment of error on appeal." Ford v. Warden, 111 Nev. 872, 884, 901 P.2d 123, 130 (1995). A claim not raised in the district court is not properly raised for the first time on appeal. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 416, 990 P.2d 1263, 1276 (1999); Hill v. State, 114 Nev. 169, 178, 953 P.2d 1077, 1084 (1998).

While this Court may address constitutional issues raised for the first time on appeal, "it will not do so unless the record is developed sufficiently both to demonstrate that fundamental rights are, in fact, implicated and to provide an adequate basis for review." <u>Wilkins v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 367, 372, 609 P.2d 309, 312 (1980). Where an appellant fails to preserve an issue on appeal, this Court reviews

the issue for plain error. <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). For this Court to grant relief based on an unpreserved claim, Lopez must demonstrate that: (1) there was an error; (2) that the error is plain; and (3) that the error affected his substantial rights. NRS 178.602; <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95. To show that an error affected his substantial rights, Lopez must demonstrate "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at 545, 80 P.3d at 95.

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